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HARRISON, P.

These are appeals by Leebert Ramcharan and Donovan Williams from a
decision of the full court of the Supreme Court (Wolfe, C.J., Dukharan, Hibbert,
J3) on 6™ October 2005 dismissing the application of each appellant for a writ of

habeas corpus.

An extradition treaty signed on 14" June 1983 by the United States of
America and Jamaica, came into force by ratification on 31 May 1991 and as a
consequence the current Extradition Act came into force in 1991.

On 2" March 2004 by diplomatic notes to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
and Foreign Trade of the Government of Jamaica, the United States of America
("the Requesting State”) sought the extradition of the appellants. The Senior

Resident Magistrate for the Corporate Area Criminal on 2" March 2004 issued

~~provisional warrants pursuant to section 9(1)(b) of the Extradition Act ("the Act”)

for both appellants. They were arrested on 3™ March 2004 on the said warrants
by Sgt. Glenford Buckle of the Jamaica Constabulary Force at the New Horizon
Remand Centre where they were in custody. At the time of such arrest each was
shown a photograph of himself and asked if it was his. Ramcharan said “Yes
officer”. Williams said “It look like mi.”

On 28" April 2004 the Requesting State forwarded to the Foreign Affairs

Ministry in Jamaica (“the Requested State”), in respect of each appellant, a



bundle of documents containing an affidavit of Joseph A. Cooley, Special
Assistant United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, sworn to on
19" April 2004 before Peter R. Palermo, United States Magistrate Judge of the
Southern District of Florida.

In his affidavit, he stated the charges filed against each appellant and the
relevant United States legislation, explained the Federal Grand Jury process
giving rise to the issue of the indictments and warrants, and summarized the
facts of the case. Exhibited to each of these affidavits were:

1. copies of the Federal Grand Jury indictment
and US warrant of arrest dated 30" January
2005,

2. copies of extracts of the US legislation which
the appellants allegedly breached,

3. penalty sheets listing the sentences on
conviction of the several offences charged,

4, an affidavit of Dennis Hocker, a Special Agent
employed to the Drug Enforcement

said Peter R. Palermo on 10" April 2004,
detailing his investigations in respect of the
charges against the appellants,

5.  an affidavit sworn to on 2" April 2004 before
Theodore Klein, United States Magistrate Judge
for the Southern District of Florida by an affiant
described as a “Confidential Informant,” and
whose name and signature were obliterated
from the affidavit.

This latter affidavit was “certified to be a true and
correct copy of the document on file” by one Clarence
Maddox, Clerk, U.S. District Court Southern District of
Florida on 4™ February 2004.



- . On-the 11" May 2004 two further bundles of documents were received by
the said Ministry of Foreign Affairs, each containing an affidavit of William H.
Bryan, III, Assistant United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida,
sworn to on 5" May 2004 before William C. Turnoff, United States Magistrate
Judge for the Southern District of Florida. Exhibited to each of these affidavits
was the affidavit of Alexander Young also sworn to before William C. Turnoff, on
5™ May 2004.

The affidavits of the confidential informant and Alexander Young both give
accounts of their meetings and drug dealings with the appellants, thereby
providing the evidence to substantiate the charges contained in the indictments,
dated 30th January 2004, as required by section 8(2) of the Act.

On 30™ April 2004 the Minister issued his authority to proceed under

section 8(1) of the Act authorizing the Resident Magistrate to commence

committal proceedings. Committal hearings were held on the 19fh and28th May

2004 and on 7™ June 2004 the Resident Magistrate granted the United States’
extradition requests by issuing a warrant of committal for each of the appellants
Ramcharan and Williams, ordering that they be remanded in custody to await
their extradition to the United States of America. They were committed to be
tried on two counts, namely:

(1) Conspiracy to import a mixture and substance
containing cocaine into the Unites States, and



(2)  conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute
in the United States of America, a mixture and
substance containing cocaine.

Previously, on 1% June 2004 George W. Bush, the President of the United
States of America, designated the appellant Leebert Ramcharan a “narcotics
Kingpin” under the powers granted by the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation
Act (“the Kingpin Act”) of 1999.

Section 3 of the said Act describes its purpose. It reads:

“3. The purpose of this Act is to provide authority
for the identification of and application of sanctions
on a worldwide basis to, significant foreign narcotics
traffickers, their organizations and the foreign persons
who provide support to those significant foreign
narcotics traffickers and their organizations whose
activities threaten the national security foreign policy,
and economy of the Unites States.”
Consequent on the committal orders made on 7™ June 2004 the

appellants applied for writs of habeas corpus to issue for their release from

 custody. On 6" October 2005 the full court of the Supreme Court refused each

application. That resulted in this appeal.
The appellant Ramcharan filed eight grounds of appeal and the appellant
Williams filed nine grounds of appeal. Common to the appeal of each appellant

were grounds (a) to (e). They read:

“(@a) The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
affidavits relied on by the Requesting State
were duly authenticated in accordance with
section 14(1)(a) of the Extradition Act; since
the said affidavits were not certified to be
either originals or true copies as is required by
section 14(2)(a) of that Act.



(b)  The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
document purporting to be testimony given by
a person whose name had been obliterated
was admissible as a true copy of an original
affidavit, since it was plain on the face of the
document that it had been altered since it was
originally created.

(¢) The Full Court erred in law in holding that it
could properly determine by an examination of
the affidavit of Alexander Young that it was an
original affidavit, when it was not certified so
to be by any appropriate officer.

(d) The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
photograph relied on by the Requesting State
as identifying the Appellant was duly
authenticated in accordance with section
14(1)(b) of the said Act, since it was not
certified to be either a photograph received in
evidence or a true copy thereof as required by
section 14(2)(b) of that Act.

(e) The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
Resident Magistrate could consider testimony
coming from a person described as a
confidential informant whose name was not

~ supplied, in the absence of any evidence that
the said person had any good reason for
withholding his name.”

The grounds of appeal argued, exclusive to the appellant Ramcharan,

were grounds (f) to (h). They read:

“(f) The Full Court erred in law in construing
section 7(1)(c) of the Extradition Act is (sic)
meaning that the Appellant was required to
establish that he might be denied a fair trial as
a result of his race, religion, nationality or
political opinions; and in not holding that the
denial of a fair trial for any reason would



require the refusal of extradition under that
section. - -

(g) The Full Court erred in law in not holding that
the designation of the Appellant by the
President of the Requesting State under the
Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act,
being an Act applicable only to non-nationals of
the United States, discriminated against the
Appellant on the grounds of his nationality, so
that if such designation prejudiced his right to
a fair trial in the United States, the prejudice
arose by reason of his nationality.

(h) The Full Court erred in law in (sic) holding that
the evidence adduced on behalf of the
Appellant, including the expert evidence of
Professor Bruce Winick as to the likelihood of
jurors knowing of the said designation and its
likely effect on their minds, had demonstrated
that he might, if extradited, be denied a fair
trial.”

These grounds of appeal argued exclusive to the appellant Williams were

grounds (f) and (h). They read:

~ “(f) The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
Appellant could be extradited on count 2 of the
indictment, which was described in the
authority to proceed as conspiracy to posses
(sic) with intent to distribute in the United
States of America a mixture and substance
containing cocaine, and in not holding that
such offences were not offences under
Jamaican Law.

(h) The Full Court erred in law in holding that the
evidence adduced at the Committal hearing
taken at its highest proved that the Appellant
had been party to an agreement to possess



cocaine or to import it into the Unites States of

Ground (g) in respect of the appellant Williams was abandoned.

Ground (i) for which leave was sought, reads:

“(i)  The Extradition Act of 1991 is inconsistent with
section 16(1) of the Jamaica [Constitution] providing
immunity from expulsion from Jamaica and as a
consequence made void by section 2 of the
Constitution.”

Grounds (a) (b) and (c) of each appellant Ramcharan and Williams
challenge the authentication of the affidavits of Young and the confidential
informant in that they did not conform to the requirements of section 14(1)(a) of
the Act, that the affidavit of the confidential informant had been altered and
thereby rendered inadmissible and that the full court could not itself determine
by its examination that the affidavit of Young was an original, in the absence of

the statutory certification.

~ Section 14(1)(a) of the Act require that documents purporting to contain

sworn testimony tendered with the extradition request must be “duly
authenticated” in the manner set out under section 14(2)(a). The latter section

reads:

“(2) A document shall be deemed to be duly
authenticated for the purposes of this section —

(a) in the case of a document which purports to
set out testimony given as referred to in
subsection (1)(a), if the document purports to be
certified by a judge, magistrate or officer of the
Court in or of the approved State in question ..."”



Authentication under the Act is therefore a dual process, namely:

(a) certification, by the relevant judicial or diplomatic
authority of the Requesting State, vouching for
the genuiness of the documents as being either
originals or true copies of originals, and

(b) authentication, by the oath of the witness or the
formal affixing of a seal by the relevant Minister in
the Requesting State. This is in essence a
subsidiary authentication.

Both Lord Gifford, Q.C., for the appellant Ramcharan and Mr. Charles for
the appellant Williams argued that the affidavit of Joseph A. Cooley, which was
certified by Lystra G. Blake as his original affidavit “with supporting
documentation”, did conform with section 14(1)(a) and section 14(2)(a). But
however, the documents attached to Cooley’s affidavit namely the affidavits of
Dennis Hocker, the confidential informant, Glenford Buckle and Marcia Dunbar,

did not satisfy the statutory requirement because they were not described by

Cooley as being either “... the original document ... or ... a true copy of that

" original document,” and therefore were inadmissible as evidence before the

Resident Magistrate. A similar argument was advanced by both counsel in
respect of the affidavit of William H. Bryan III which was certified by the said
Lystra G. Blake, as his “supplemental affidavit .. with supporting
documentation.” The affidavit of Bryan recited in paragraph 5:

“I have attached to this affidavit the affidavits (sic) of
the witness Alexander Young...”

but did not state whether or not it was “... the original document ... or a true

copy of that original.”
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Both counsel relied on Prince Anthony Edwards v D.P.P. & Director
of Correctional Sérvices [1994] '31 JLR 526, irn which Downer, JA observed
that all the affidavits and exhibits were referred to as either “originals or a
certified true and correct copy” by the official certification of the U.S. official, and
Oskar v Government of Australia and Others [1988] 1 All ER 183, in which
the documents certified were identified as “the original documents.”

Although the provisions of section 14 of the Act are mandatory, the
compliance therewith is not restricted by a single inflexible method of proof or
style of authentication. The purpose and intention of the section are to ensure
that the documents relied on by both the Requesting and the Requested States
are genuine and authentic as originating from official sources and not contrived
and falsified in order to procure the transfer of its nationals by devious means.

The reference to “a document” in section 14 of the Act, can be taken to

mean a single paper writing. However, several documents tied together making

“a single bundle have been construed as “a document” for the purposes of the

provisions of the said section.

In the case of Prince Anthony Edwards (supra) the point arose, to
determine whether the documents submitted were properly authenticated.
Downer, J.A. held that the documents together under the seal of the Department
of Justice, at page 529:

... from the method of sealing ... are properly
regarded as a document.”

He concluded that:
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... these documents were certified by a district judge,

a notary public, an officer of the court and

authenticated by two Ministers of the requesting

state...”
The “document” was, as a consequence properly authenticated in accordance
with section 14 of the Act. The learned Judge of Appeal noted however that the
certification of the Deputy Director of the Office of International Affairs, Criminal
Division, of the affidavit of the US Attorney described in the affidavits attached
thereto, as original affidavits.

In the instant case, the description of the affidavits attached to the
affidavits of Cooley and Bryan, were not specifically described as “originals” nor
“true copies of original documents.” A different method of identification was
employed by Lystra Blake, Associate Director, US Department of Justice. Having

certified that the original affidavit of Joseph A. Cooley, attached, was

accompanied “with supporting documentation”, she stated immediately

1

‘Howingr B

“True copies of the original documents are maintained
in the official files of the United States Department of
Justice in Washington, D.C.” (Emphasis added)

The purpose and intent of the legislative provisions must be considered in
construing the contents of the documentation in extradition proceedings. The
provisions of section 14(2)(a) of the Act cannot therefore be given an overly

technical degree of construction. In considering the adequacy of the subsidiary
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certification, Langrin J, in Coke et al v. The Superintendent of Prisons et al

[1991] 28 JLR 365 at 372 said:

“The role of the Court is confined to ascertaining from
the words that Parliament has approved as expressing
its intention, what that intention was, and to giving
effect to it. Further the statute should be construed
as to provide the general legislative purpose.”

The learned judge was construing the provisions of the 1870 Extradition Act
which were in terms similar to our current Act. Lord Ackner in Oskar v.
Government of Australia et al (supra) commenting on the legislative
provision concerning certification, in terms similar to section 14(2), at page 190
said:

“I agree with the Divisional Court that the section
does not require each statement to carry on its face a
certificate from the magistrate. Such a requirement
would be highly artificial. The section is complied
with if there is a separate -certificate, which
sufficiently identifies all the statements which it
certifies, as in the instant case, where they are all tied
together.”

The “orig'i;awlh documents” f&erééd to by Lystra Blake, inferé‘ﬁﬁéi& u;:an t;e
construed as a further reference to the “supporting documentation” referred to in
the preceding paragraph. She was accordingly verifying that the “supporting
documentation” to the affidavit of Joseph Cooley, namely the affidavits of Dennis
Hocker, the confidential informant, Glenford Buckle and Marcia Dunbar, were
associated with the “true copies of the original documents” maintained in the
files in the office of the Department of Justice, in which office she was the

Associate Director in the Office of International Affairs Criminal Division.
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Inelegant though her certification may be described, the paragraph must
be consttuedtn the context in whieh |t was being used by Lystra Blake and hot in
isolation. The paragraph, “True copies of the original documents are maintained
in the official files of the United States Department of Justice in Washington,
D.C.," is properly read as meaning:

“[These are] True copies of the original documents,

[several of which copies] are maintained in the

official files of the United States Department of

Justice in Washington, D.C.”
By this construction the paragraph would be relevant and intelligible, to give
effect to the requirements of section 14(2) of the Act.

Even copies of true copies are themselves true copies of the original
document.

Furthermore, in the instant case, we observed that the documents were

bound together in one bundle tied together with official tape and sealed with the

orlglnal seal of the Department of Justlce The certlf' cation of Lystra Blake was

itself certlf' ed by the Attorney General of the Unlted States of Amerlca, John
Ashcroft. The entire “document hereunto annexed” was further certified by Colin
L. Powell, Secretary of State and the seal of the Department of State was duly
affixed with the notation that:
“... such seal is entitled to full faith and credit.”
This construction also applies to the authentication of the document
received on 11" May 2004, tied in a single bundle, and containing the

“supplemental” affidavit of William H. Bryan III, attached to which was the
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“supporting documentation” namely, the affidavit of Alexander Young. The
affidavit of Byran was certified by the said Lystra Blake, whose affidavit was itself
certified by John Ashcroft, the Attorney-General of the United States of America,
and sealed with the seal of the Department of Justice. The document was
authenticated also by the signature of Colin L. Powell, Secretary of State and
that of the Assistant Authentication Officer and sealed with the seal of the said
Department of Justice. Section 14(2)(a) of the Act was complied with.

For the above reasons, I agree with both counsel for the respondents,
that the full court was correct in holding that the documents were properly
authenticated and admissible in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The affidavit of the confidential informant was sworn to on 2" April 2004
before Theodore Klein, US Magistrate Judge Southern District of Florida. The
name of the deponent was obliterated at the heading, in the opening recital, in

the jurat and where the applicant’s signature would have been.

—.—.Both Lord Gifford, Q.C., and Mr, Charles argued that the affidavit evidence . . ..

of the confidential informant is inadmissible because the affidavit was tampered
with by the obliteration of the name and signature. It was therefore not a true
copy of the original, despite the certifying stamp of the Clerk of the US District
Court. There was no evidence of the reason why the name of the applicant was
removed nor was it stated to have been removed through fear.

The jurat endorsed on and signed by Theordore Klein on the affidavit of

the confidential informant reads:
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“On the 2™ day of April, 2004 ... personally appeared
before me and after being sworn by me, signed this
affidavit.”
This clearly indicates that a known individual appeared in person before the said
Magistrate Judge took the oath and signed the affidavit, in person.
On the same day, the affidavit was affixed with a certifying stamp and
signed by the Clerk. It reads:
“Certified to be a true and correct copy of the
document on file. Clarence Maddix, Clerk, US District
Court Southern District of Florida.
Deputy Clerk
Dated 4/2/04"
The “document on file” inferentially, is the affidavit which was personally signed
before the said Magistrate Judge Klein. The Clerk’s certificate was therefore a

sufficient certification of the said affidavit to satisfy the provisions of section

14(2) of the Act. In any event, the latter certification along with the certification

by Lystra Blake, as stated above were comprehensively effective to satisfy the

provisions of the Act.

However, in agreement with Lord Gifford, Q.C., the “alteration” of the
affidavit by the obliteration would have reduced it to less than a “true” copy of
the original. Consequently, the “alteration” not having been initialed by the
applicant and Kiein, the affidavit may ordinarily seem to be inadmissible in view
of Rule 30.3(4) of the Civil Procedure Rules 2002. Clearly, the substance of the

affidavit detailing the evidence concerning the appellants remained the same as
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when it was sworn to and signed before Theodore Klein. Despite this, the said
"affidavit was properly admitted by the Resident Magistrate. The reason for
which I will hereafter give.

The legislative intent of section 14(2)(a) of the Act is to ensure the
genuineness of the documentation in order to maintain the authenticity of the
substantive contents of the evidence contained in those documents. The
integrity of the substantive content of the affidavit of the confidential informant
had not been altered. The body of the affidavit contained no alterations. The
obliteration did not therefore alter the evidence. The reasonable and practical
construction of section 14(2)(a), in view of the sufficiency of the certification of
Miss Blake is, that the affidavit of the confidential informant may properly be
treated as a true copy of the original, as stated by Miss Blake.

The issue of the admissibility of an affidavit containing alterations was

considered by Smith, J.A. in the case of Trevor Forbes v The D.P.P and the

__ Commissioner of Correctional Services SCCA No. 9/04 dated 3™ November

2005. In that case there were alterations in the body of the affidavit containing
evidence in support of the US extradition request. The alterations were initialled
by the deponent but not by the judge before whom it was sworn to. Counsel for
the appellant argued that the affidavit was thereby rendered inadmissible.
Smith, J.A. at page 24 said:

1t is in my judgment, for the Court of committal to

decide what weight to attach to such evidence in light

of the alterations. In this regard, as Miss Larmond
submitted, the nature of the alterations is important.
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I agree ... that an examination of Miss Savell’s
~ affidavit will show that the alterations are not unduly
prejudicial to the appellant. They certainly would not

rn

‘outrage civilized values'.
In the instant case, there was no alteration of the evidential content of the
affidavit. In that respect therefore there was no prejudice to the appellants. Its
authenticity was assured by the signature of Theodore Klein in the jurat and the
certifying stamp of the clerk and the overall certification by Miss Blake. In that
regard therefore, the mere obscuring of the name of the deponent, following the
rationale of Smith, J.A., in the Forbes case (supra) did not thereby render the
said affidavit inadmissible.
The affidavit of Alexander Young certified and exhibited to the affidavit of
William Bryan III and deemed admissible by the full court as an original, was
challenged by counsel for both appellants as inadmissible, not having been

described as “the original” or “a copy of the original”. The finding of the full

court, in the judgment of Hibbert, J., in that respect, at page 20 of the judgment

reads:

“William Bryan III in his affidavits at paragraph 6
states — Exhibit 1 is the affidavit of Alexander Young.
The submission that the absence of the word original
in this description is fatal, finds no favour with me.
An examination clearly shows that the affidavit of

Alexander Young is an original affidavit. I therefore
find that this affidavit was properly certified.”

Counsel argued that the full court could not by examination determine that the
affidavit was an original. I do not agree. In R v Jones et al RMCA No. 1/87

dated 18" January 1998 this Court of Appeal referred to the caution against
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leaving to a jury the task of resolving questions of authorship of handwriting
without expert guidance. The Court referred to R v O'Sullivan [1969] 3 Cr.
App. R. 274 and R v Rickard [1918] 13 Cr. App. R 140, and proceeded to
examine three sets of documents. The Court found that the documents “show a
marked consistency in all the signatures ... the inference is inescapable that he
[the appellant] signed the cheques as drawer ...".

It is not without significance that the bundie of documents authenticated
by the seals of the Department of State and the Department of Justice, contains
the affidavit of William Bryan III which is described, in the certification of Lystra

Blake as:

*... the supplemental affidavit of William Bryan III.”
(Emphasis added)

The affidavit of William Bryan III, recites in paragraph 5,

* ... I have attached to this affidavit the affidavits (sic)
of the witness, Alexander Young ..” (Emphasis
__added)

in paragraph 6:
“Exhibit 1 is the affidavit of Alexander Young ... The

affidavit of Alexander Young was sworn to ...”
(Emphasis added)

and in paragraph 7:

“I have ... received the affidavit of Alexander Young.”
(Emphasis added)
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The draftsman of the affidavits in this bundle employed the use of the definite
article “the”, consistently, to differentiate it from the indefinite “a copy of ...".
The affidavits of Alexander Young and William Bryan III are therefore the original
affidavits, satisfying the provisions of section 14(1) and (2) of the Act, and its
intendment, despite the omission of the word “original.”

Consequently, it was permissible, as the full court did, to examine the said
affidavit of Alexander Young in confirmation of its status as the original affidavit
of Alexander Young. As counsel for the second respondent, the Director of
Public Prosecutions observed in submitting that the said affidavit was correctly
examined by the full court, the signatures of Alexander Young and William C.
Turnoff were both written in ink.

Counsel for the appellants were incorrect to place too narrow an
interpretation on the purpose and intention of the Act.

There is no merit in grounds (a), (b) or (c) in respect of each appellant.

_Ground_(d) in respect of each appellant complains that neither of the

photographs identifying each appellant was authenticated in accordance with
section 14 (1)(b) and (2)(b) of the Act. I agree with the finding of the full court
that the photographs were so authenticated. The section reads:

“14. — (1) In any proceedings under this Act,

including proceedings on an application for habeas

corpus in respect of a person in custody under this
Act -

(b) a document, duly authenticated, which purports to
have been received in evidence, or to be a copy of
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a document so received in any proceedings in an
~ approved State shall be admissible in evidence;

(2) A document shall be deemed to be
duly authenticated for the purposes of this section -

(b) in.;c'he case of a document which purports to have
been received in evidence as referred to in
subsection (1) (b) or to be a copy of a document so
received, if the document purports to be certified as
aforesaid to have been, or to be a true copy of, a
document which has been so received; ...”

The photographs purporting to be that of the appellants were exhibited
to the affidavit of the confidential informant. They were not tendered as
documents “...received in evidence... in any proceedings in an approved
State...” The proceedings in an approved State are properly referable only to
the Grand Jury hearing on 30" January 2004. The confidential informant’s
affidavit was sworn to on 2™ April 2004 and the said photographs were

identified and signed by the said deponent on 2" April 2004.  Strictly

__construed, the photographs were not admissible as documents ™... received in

evidence ... in any proceedings in ...” the Requesting State, in compliance with
the provisions of section 14(1)(b) and 14(2)(b) of the Act. However, the said
photographs were exhibited to the affidavit of the confidential informant, who
identified them as the photographs of the appellants with whom he was
personally acquainted and interacted with previously.

Rule 30.5(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules provides:

“(1) Any document to be used in conjunction with an
affidavit must be exhibited to it.”
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The confidential informant, at paragraphs 10 to 12 of his affidavit dated

2" April 2004:

“10. I would describe Leebert RAMCHARAN as being
a black Jamaican male, approximately 50-55
years of age, 53" - 55" tall, weighing
approximately 180 to 200 pounds. I know
Leebert RAMCHARAN referred to himself as an
Indian.

11. I would describe Donovan WILLIAMS as being
a black Jamaican male, approximately 35-40
years of age, 57" — 59”7 tall, weighing
approximately 180 to 200 pounds.

12, On April 1, 2004, S/A Dennis Hocker showed
me an unmarked/unlabeled two separate sets
of photographs ...”

The affidavit evidence of Dennis Hocker confirms this in his affidavit dated 10™
April, 2004. At paragraph 13, he said:

“13. Everett Donovan WILLIAMS is believed to be a
citizen of Jamaica. His date of birth is believed to be
November 02, 1961, and his place of birth is Jamaica.
" He is described as a black male, approximately 54"
tall, medium build, with brown eyes. A Confidential
Informant has identified in my presence on April 2,
2004, a photo, Exhibit 1 to Confidential Informant 's
Affidavit, as Leebert RAMCHARAN. On the same
date, the same Confidential Informant also identified
in my presence, a photo, Exhibit 2, to Confidential
Informant Affidavit, as Everett Donovan WILLIAMS. 1
signed both Exhibit 1 and 2 to reflect that I witnesses
(sic) the Confidential Informant’s identification.”

The said photographs, which were exhibited to the affidavit of the
confidential informant and identified to Dennis Hocker, were therefore

sufficiently linked to and identified with the appellants. They were therefore
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admissible as documents being a part of the confidential informant’s sworn
testimony under sections 14(1)(a) and section 14 (2)(a) of the Act. They
were incorporated in the bundle of documents tied together with the ribbons
and authenticated by the Department of State and the Department of Justice
and the certification of Lystra Blake.

For the above reasons, this ground is without merit and fails.

Ground (e) is a complaint that the full court was wrong to find that the
evidence of the confidential informant was properly admitted, without any
evidence that there was any reason why his name was not disclosed.

One of the prevailing principles in the criminal law is that a man has a
right to be able to confront his accusers. This rule may however be departed
from if the witness is in fear of his life or the circumstances indicate possible
harm or bodily injury.

This Court considered that point in the case of Vivian Blake v The

_D.P.P. et al SCCA No. 107/96 dated 27" July 1998 in which Forte, JA.

examined the factors governing the admissibility of the evidence of an
anonymous witness as outlined in R v Taylor (1994) TLR 484. The principle is
outlined in the headnote to R v Taylor, (supra) It reads:

“A defendant in a criminal trial had a fundamental
right to see and know the identity of his accusers,
including witnesses for the prosecution. That right
should only be denied in rare and exceptional
circumstances; whether such circumstances existed
was pre-eminently a matter for the exercise of the
trial judge’s discretion.”
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Evans, L.J. in detailing the factors that should influence the reception of the
evidence, as one of the factors, said:

“There must be real grounds for fear of the

consequences if the evidence were given and the

identity of the witness revealed. ... but in principle it

might not be necessary for the witness himself to be

fearful or to be fearful for himself alone. There could

be cases where concern was expressed by other

persons, or where the witness was concerned for his
family rather than for himself.”

The Taylor case (supra) demonstrates that the fear need not be
expressed by the witness himself, but may emanate from others or be gleaned
from all the circumstances of the case. But, in addition, ultimately, it is a matter
for the trial judge. Forte, J.A. in Vivian Blake v The D.P.P. et al (supra),
noting that Evans, L.J., in listing the relevant factors was referring to the exercise
of the judge’s discretion in the context of a trial, said:

*... the ultimate trial of the appellant if he fails on this
appeal, and is eventually extradited at the instance of

__the Honourable Minister will be governed by the
procedures of the Requesting State.”

The issue of the anonymous witness also arose in Regina (Al-Fawwaz)
v Governor of Brixton Prison et al [2002] 1 All ER 545, in the context of
extradition proceedings. Lord Hutton delivering the judgment of the House of
Lords on that point at page 570 said:

... the authorities emphasise that the decision
whether to admit evidence from an anonymous

witness is a matter of deciding where the balance of
fairness lies between the prosecution and the accused
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and that it is preeminently a matter for the discretion
of the magistrate or judge conducting the hearing. ...
in some cases the balance of fairness may come
down in favour of the prosecution notwithstanding
that the circumstances could not be described as rare
and exceptional.”

The learned Resident Magistrate, in the instant case, was entitled to
exercise his discretion by looking at all the evidence, and decide how best he
could achieve that balance of fairness between the appellants and the
prosecuting authorities. The affidavit of Alexander Young, would have provided
the learned Resident Magistrate with evidence of the appellants’ dealings in the
drug smuggling operations as well as the element of danger and ultimate fear
that may be instilled. Paragraph 8 reads:

“Toward the end of 2001, Leebert RAMCHARAN told
me about a multi-million dollar (U.S.C.) seizure by
Jamaican police. Leebert RAMCHARAN explained that
the money was from drug sales and was transported
from Miami, Florida, through the Bahamas, into
Jamaica to his night club ‘Caribbean Show Place’

located in Montego Bay. Leebert RAMCHARAN said
__that once the money was delivered to the club, the

police arrived and seized the money. Leebert
RAMCHARAN told me that he paid off Jamaican
police in Kingston and learned the name of the person
that provided information that led to the seizure of
the money. Leebert RAMCHARAN stated that he
confronted an associate known as ‘Campo,” a
Colombian national, who had the same name as the
person Leebert RAMCHARAN was given by the police.
Leebert RAMCHARAN told me that ‘Campo’ denied
providing the information to police, but later fled to
Colombia. Leebert RAMCHARAN toid me that he had
persons__in__Colombia looking to kill ‘Campo’.
Approximately a _month later, I was with Leebert
RAMCHARAN when another drug associate told us

that he located ‘Campo’ in Bogota, Colombia and had
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him shot and killed in front of ‘Campo’s’ wife and
children.” (Emphasis added)

Although the latter evidence was not contained in the affidavit of the confidential
informant, it provided the learned Resident Magistrate with relevant information
of the facts and circumstances which could create life threatening danger to
those who co-operate with the law enforcement officials. He was entitled to
consider this evidence in the balance of fairness, and could draw the inference
that the withholding of the name of the confidential informant was based on real
grounds of fear and not on improper motives. As a consequence, the exercise of
his discretion in accepting the importance of this evidence to the due
administration of justice was reasonable. Lord Diplock in Attorney General v
Leveller Magazine Ltd et al [1979] 1 All ER 748, expressed the proper

manner of the exercise of the discretion. At page 749 - 750 he said:

“As a general rule the English System of
administering justice does require that it be done in

__public: Scott v Scott [1913] AC 417, [1911-13] All
ER Rep. 1. If the way that courts behave cannot be
hidden from the public ear and eye this provides a
safeguard against judicial arbitrariness or
idiosyncrasy and maintains the public confidence in
the administration of justice. ...

However, since the purpose of the general rule is to
serve the ends of justice it may be necessary to
depart from it where the nature or circumstances of
the particular proceeding are such that the
application of the general rule in its entirety would
frustrate or render impracticable the administration
of justice or would damage some other public
interest for whose protection Parliament has made
some statutory derogation from the rule. Apart
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from statutory exceptions, however, where a court

in_the exercise of its inherent power to control the
conduct of proceedings before it departs in any way
from the general rule, the departure is justified to
the extent and to no more than the extent that the

court reasonably believes it to be necessary in order
to serve the ends of justice.” (Emphasis added)

In the circumstances of this case the learned Resident Magistrate was not
incorrect to accept the fact of the danger to a witness who was closely
associated with the operations of an international drug smuggling operation.
This would be even more apparent if the witness Alexander Young and the
confidential informant was one and the same person. This ground also fails.

Mr. Charles also argued that the learned Resident Magistrate should have
held that the affidavit of Alexander Young was unreliable and inadmissible,
because if he and the confidential informant were the same person he was a
witness of convenience who had added further details to his previous affidavit
without explaining the reason for the earlier omissions. Furthermore, if he was

not the same person, Alexander Young had copied into his affidavit large parts of

the confidential informant’s affidavit and therefore Young's affidavit should not
be believed.

The record reveals that paragraphs 1 to 4 of the confidential informant’s
affidavit sworn to on 2™ April 2004 and Alexander Young's affidavit sworn to on
5% April 2004 are identical — word for word, except that in the latter affidavit, in

paragraph 4, the words “United States currency (‘U.S.C.")" are included in line 8
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and the sentence “I was charging Donovan Williams approximately $5,000.00
(U.S.C.) a kilogram” was added at the end of that paragraph.
Paragraphs 8, 10, 11 and 12 of Young's affidavit do not appear in the
confidential informant’s affidavit.
Paragraphs 7 and 9 of the confidential informant’s and Young’s affidavit
respectively, are almost identical, except that phrases are added to paragraph 9.
Paragraphs 8 and 9 of the confidential informant’s affidavit are identical to
paragraphs 13 and 14 of the Young affidavit.
Paragraphs 15, 16 and 17 of the Young affidavit do not appear in the
confidential informant’s affidavit.
The final paragraph of the confidential informant’s affidavit reads:
“On April 1, 2004, S/A Dennis Hocker showed me an
unmarked unlabeled two separate sets of
photographs.”
The final paragraph of Alexander Young's affidavit reads:
~"On April 1, 2004, S/A Dennis Hocker showed me an.
unmarked/unlabeled two separate sets of
photographs. On April 2, 2004, I provided a sworn
affidavits that the attached photographs of those
affidavits were that of Leebert RAMCHARAN and
Donovan WILLIAMS.”
Those two final paragraphs, reciting the activity on that date, would
attract an inescapable inference that the confidential informant and Alexander
Young are one and the same person. That inference was probably drawn by the

learned Resident Magistrate. Nor could it have escaped the learned Resident

Magistrate that on a broad reading of both affidavits, the events and the
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occasions ordered to, are almost identical and reveal a composite picture of joint
participation in an on going drug related operation. The significant confirmation
lies in the similarity of the grammatical error in paragraph 1 of each affidavit,
namely:

“1. I am currently reside in the Unites States.”
(Emphasis added)

The affidavit of Alexander Young, far from conveying a dubious motive,
was a forthright and clear account of events, clarifying in greater detail areas
already referred to in the confidential informant’s affidavit. It was an affidavit
supplemental to the confidential informant’s.

The circumstance of both being the same person elicited from Mr. Charles
a complaint that such evidence of Young was incompetent and as an accomplice
was inadmissible, in that it was not corroborated. I do not agree.

The witness, Assistant District Attorney Cooley stated that the

“confidential informant is a charged co-conspirator of this organization”.

Consequently, Young was also “a charged co-conspirator.” It was argued that
Young was incompetent because he had proceedings pending against him, he
had an interest to serve and so had a motive to fabricate evidence in order to
earn the favour of the official authorities.

Whenever a witness properly described as an accomplice, is to be called
as a witness for the prosecution, the practice is, if he has been charged, to take
his plea of guilty and offer no further evidence or enter a nolle prosequi. In this

way, an outstanding criticism of him awaiting a lenient treatment because of his
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evidence assisting the prosecution would have been deflected. However, the
learned trial judge has a duty to warn the jury of the danger of acting on the
uncorroborated evidence of an accomplice. (See R v Turner [1975] 61 Cr.
App. R 67). The editor of Phipson on Evidence, 14" edition [1990] paragraph 14
— 10 states:

“An accomplice who is separately indicted, or who, if

jointly indicted, has either pleaded guilty, been

acquitted, or had his trial postponed, is a competent

witness against his fellows; but one who is jointly

indicted and jointly tried is, as we have seen,

altogether incompetent for the prosecution. In the

latter case, therefore, it is usual, when the accomplice

is to be called for the prosecution, to take his plea of

guilty on arraignment or before calling him either to

offer no evidence and permit his acquittal or to enter

a nolle prosequr.”

In extradition cases, the evidence relied on is usually that of accomplices,
who having acted along with the person sought to be extradited, have an
intimate knowledge of the activities and material details of the unlawful exercise.

Bemg aware of the nature of such ewdence the ]udge at trlal would have to
warn a jury of its dangers, if it was to be acted upon, without corroboration.
Such accomplice evidence is not inadmissible. (See Vivian Blake v The D.P.P
et al (supra) and Armah v Government of Ghana and Another [1968] A.C.
192).

The hearing before the Resident Magistrate is governed by the provisions

of the Extradition Act. The Resident Magistrate’s principal concern is not the

credibility of the witnesses, though important, but the ascertainment of whether
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a prima facie case has been made out against the person sought. Section 10(1)
requires the Resident Magistrate to conduct the hearing —

* . as if he were sitting as an examining justice and
as if that person were brought before him charged
with an indictable offence committed within his
jurisdiction.”

Section 10 (5) provides:

“(5) Where an authority to proceed has been issued
in respect of the person arrested and the court of
committal is satisfied, after hearing any evidence
tendered in support of the request for the extradition
of that person or on behalf of that person, that the
offence to which the authority relates is an extradition
offence and is further satisfied —

(a) where the person is accused of the offence,
that the evidence would be sufficient to
warrant his trial for that offence if the offence
had been committed in Jamaica;

the court of committal shall, unless his committal is

prohibited by any other provision of this Act, commit

him to custody to await his extradition under this
ST ,ﬁ\,ct;!l,,,, e e e e e o e oo e # et - e s e - e — R
The standard by which a Resident Magistrate sitting *...as an examining justice
" in extradition cases is required to act in respect of the evidence is that
provided by section 43 of the Justices of the Peace Jurisdiction Act. It provides
that the examining justice may commit a person to stand his trial in the Supreme

Court, where the evidence is —

“.. sufficient to put such accused party upon his trial
for any indictable offence, such Justice or Justices
shall forthwith order such accused party, if in custody,
to be discharged as to the information then under
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inquiry; but if, in the opinion of such Justice or

Justices, such evidence is sufficient to put the

accused party upon his trial for an indictable offence,

or if the evidence given raise a strong or probable

presumption of the guilt of such accused party, ..."
Consequently, in the case of Brooks v D.P.P. et al [1994] 31 JLR 16 at page
23, the Privy Council, referring to the treatment of evidence by a Resident
Magistrate holding a preliminary enquiry, said:

“Questions of credibility, except in the clearest of

cases, do not normally result in a finding that there

is no prima facie case. They are usually left to be

determined at the trial.”
See also ex parte Osman (supra) as to the functions of the Magistrate at a
preliminary enquiry.

In the instant case, the learned Resident Magistrate was entitled to act on
the uncorroborated evidence of Alexander Young, having reminded himself of
the dangers of doing so. The evidence was sufficient to make out a prima facie
case for the extradition of the appellants. This ground also fails.

Ground (g), argued by Lord Gifford, Q.C., on behalf of trl;re'apbelilawrﬂ\t
Ramcharan, complains that the full court erred in not holding that the
designation of the appellant by the President of the United States of America
under the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act (“the Kingpin Act”) an Act
applicable to non-nationals only, was a discrimination against the appellant by
reason of his nationality.

The ground was argued in view of the provision of section 7 (1)(c) of the

Extradition Act which reads:
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“7. (1) A person shall not be extradited under this
Act to an approved State or committed to or kept in
custody for the purposes of such extradition, if it
appears to the Minister, to the court of committal, to
the Supreme Court on an application for habeas
corpus or to the Court of Appeal on an appeal against
a refusal to grant a writ of habeas corpus -

(c) that he might, if extradited, be denied a fair trial
or punished, detained or restricted in his personal
liberty by reason of his race, religion, nationality
or political opinions;...”
He submitted that the appellant was singled out and discriminated against
because of his nationality, because the Act does not apply to American nationals.
Even if nationality is but one of the reasons, it is a discriminatory designation
which might by itself prejudice a fair trial, then the prejudice would be by way of
nationality which would attract the provisions of section 7(1)(c). Learned
Queen’s Counsel relied on A and others v Secretary of State for the Home
~ Department, X _and Another v Secretary of State for the Home
Department [2005] 3 All ER 169. The appellants, non-British nationals,
challenged the lawfulness of their detention under the Anti-terrorism, Crime and
Security Act 2001 enacted pursuant to the Human Rights Act 1998 (Designated
Derogation) Order 2001, as suspected internationally associated terrorists . The
Act did not address such threats by United Kingdom nationals. The appeals were

allowed and the Order 2001 was quashed. Lord Bingham, at page 212 said:

“Any discriminatory measure inevitably affects a
smaller rather than a larger group, but cannot be
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justified on the ground that more people would be

adversely affected if the measure were applied

generally. What has to be justified is not the

measure in issue but the difference in treatment

between one person or group and another. What

cannot be justified here is the decision to detain one

group of suspected international terrorists, defined by

nationality or immigration status, and not another.”
Baroness Hale also agreed that the Order was discriminatory and should be
quashed.

In that case the detention of the appellants was directly as a consequence
of the 2001 Order itself, which discriminated against non U. K. nationals.

In the instant case, learned Queen’s Counsel failed to show that the
request for extradition of the appellant was as a consequence of the Kingpin Act.
In that respect the case of A and others (supra) cannot assist him.

The Federal Grand Jury’s decision and indictment to bring proceedings
against the appellant were dated 30" January 2004 long before the Presidential
~_designation on 1% June 2004. The request for extradition of the appellant was
received by the Government of Jamaica on 2" March 2004. Such request
therefore originated not out of the Kingpin Act but from wholly unconnected
treaty obligations. The appellant’s prosecution was not because he was a
Jamaican nor because he was a non-national of the United States of America but

because of his alleged involvement in the drug trafficking activities charged in

the indictment and affecting the sovereign territory of the United States of

America.
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This ground also fails.

Grounds (f) and (h), also argued by Lord Gifford, Q.C., on behalf of the
appellant Ramcharan, maintained that the full court erred in not finding that the
pre-trial publicity created by the Presidential designation would prejudice the trial
of the appellant in the Requesting State and the evidence led confirmed that the
minds of the potential jurors would be unalterably prejudiced. In addition, the
said court should have held that the provisions of section 7 (1)(c) should be
construed to mean that the denial of a fair trial to the appellant for any reason,
even exclusive of race, religion, nationality or political opinions, should attract
the issue of habeas corpus.

The argument advanced in support of ground (h) was that the said
designation aimed at foreign nationals would have created in the minds of the
potential jurors perceptions of guilt and consequently the appellant would be

denied a fair trial if extradited. In accordance with section 7 (1)(c) habeas

_corpus should issue. - The affidavit evidence of Professor Bruce Winick was relied

on by learned Queen’s Counsel for the appellant to demonstrate, as an expert in
the area of jury selection, that the processes available to the courts in the United
States are inadequate to dispel the prejudice which would operate in the minds
of the potential jurors. Such a juror aware of the Presidential designation should
be disqualified from jury service. The publicity in newspapers formerly, which

created prejudice was further increased by the public access to the internet,
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which, according to Professor Winick, is used by 56.2% to 59% of residents in
Florida in 2003.

The Presidential designation under the Kingpin Act on 1%t June 2004
named the appellant among ten (10) persons classified as “foreign narcotics

trafficker(s)” and whose —

“activities ... and ... organizations ... threaten the

national security, foreign policy and economy of the

United States.”
The designation resulted from information provided to the President of the
Untied States from the Secretaries of the Treasury, Defence, State, the Attorney
General and the Director of the Central Intelligence Agency. The consequence of
this designation was the public identification of the individual, the blocking of his
assets and the prohibition of such persons to transact business with United
States citizens.

Pre-trial publicity is not a phenomenon of recent times. Illegal activities
are usually of public interest and modern technology has ensured that
information of whatever nature is accessible to the public, almost
instantaneously. The internet phenomenon has further ensured this. Despite
this, it does not necessarily mean that the judicial process and the prosecution
and fair trial of an individual for criminal activities is irretrievably compromised
and made impossible because of media publicity.

Lord Gifford, Q.C., for the appellant Ramcharan, to support his argument

that the Kingpin designation would prejudice his client if he was extradited to the
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United States of America, relied on the Bahamian Court of Appeal decision in
The Government of USA et al v Knowles (unreported) Common Law
Appeal No. 48/04 dated 11" May 2005, in which the issue of whether the
respondent Knowles would obtain a fair trial in the United States of America if he
was extradited was considered. On 31 May 2002 the President of the United
States of America had designated him a drug Kingpin under the Foreign
Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act. Small, J had granted a writ of habeas corpus
having found that the extradition of Knowles would result in his unfair trial
because of the designation which was referable to nationality. The Bahamian
Court of Appeal reversed the decision on the basis that there was no evidence
from Knowles’ witness, a member of the bar of the State of Georgia, USA, of the
impact of the publicity of the designation which was published on the website.
The Court, inter alia, at paragraph 14 of the judgment, held:

“"We are not ourselves persuaded that the designation
of the respondent as a foreign drug kingpin under

__American law is a_matter which should result in a_loss
of confidence in the fairness of the American justice
system. The conclusion that there is doubt as to
whether the voir dire process will protect the
respondent from the presumed prejudicial effect of
the presidential designation seems untenable.
Indeed, it is a notorious fact, of which we can take
judicial notice, that the American Justice system of
jury selection is by far more intensive in investigating
possible prejudice against an accused person than our
own system. ... In short, the designation appears to
have been a consequence of his perceived criminality
by the U.S. authorities and not as a consequence of
his nationality.”
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The Court examined section 7(1)(c) of the Bahamian Extradition Act, which is
similarly worded as the Jamaican section 7(1)(c), and found that in order to
avoid extradition, based on the denial of a fair trial, an applicant had to show
that he fell within one of the factors of race, religion, nationality or political
opinions. Lord Gifford, Q.C., in embracing the Knowles case, sought to
distinguish the decision of the Bahamian Court of Appeal, preferring instead the
reasoning of Small, J. Based as it was on the absence of evidence, the decision
of the Bahamian Court of Appeal cannot assist learned Queen’s Counsel for the
appellant. The said Court expressed its faith in the American Justice system to
secure a fair trial to the respondent Knowles and in addition refused to view its
section 7(1)(c) in a wide arhbit, as Lord Gifford, Q.C., argued before us.

The Judicial Committee of the Privy Council in Heath et al v The
Government of the United States of America (2005) P.C. Appeal No. 58/04
dated 28" November 2005, considered on appeal from the decision of the Court
of Appeal of St. Christopher and Nevis ordering the issue of habeas corpus for
the extradition of one Heath and another to the United States of America for trial
for conspiracy to supply and import cocaine into the United States. On 2" June
2000 they also were designated global drug traffickers by the President of the
United States under the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Designation Act. It was
argued that there was a real risk that they would not get a fair trial due to such

a designation. Their Lordships rejecting the argument as impossible referred to
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Lord Mustil's words in Nankissoon Boodram v Attorney General and
Another[1996] 47 WIR 459 at 495:

“The proper forum for a complaint about publicity is
the trial court ..."

and adopted the approach of Lamer, ] in the Supreme Court of Canada in The
Republic of Argentina v Hector Mellino [1987] 1 SCR 536. At page 558, he
said:

“Our courts must assume that [the defendant] will be

given a fair trial in the foreign country. Matters of

due process generally are to be left for the courts to

determine at the trial there as they would be if he

were to be tried here. Attempts to pre-empt

decisions on such matters, whether arising through

delay or otherwise, would directly conflict with the

principles of comity on which extraction is based.”
Their Lordships concluded that the evidence did not establish that t